Supreme Court of Florida

CASE No. SC05-2141

Lower Tribunal Case No. 4D05-115

ROY McDONALD,

Defendant-Appellant,

V.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Plaintiff-Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA, FOURTH DISTRICT

INITIAL BRIEF FOR THE DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

ABE BAILEY, ESQ.

Attorney for the Appellant 18350 N.W. 2nd Avenue, 5th Floor Miami, FL 33169 (305) 653-8860 FBN 480398.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The appellant was the defendant in the circuit court and will be referred to as the Defendant or by name. The appellee is State of Florida and will be referred to as "the State." References to the record will be as follows:

"RR." for Case No. 99-3968CF10A;

"R." for Case No. 01-4353CF10A; and

"Tr." for the trial transcripts.

(i) **Proceedings in the Circuit Court:**

The Defendant filed a single motion to correct judgment covering both Case No. 99-3968CF10A and Case No. 01-4353CF10A. Under Case No. No. 99-3968CF10A the State confessed error and the circuit court obliged vacating the sentence in that case but denying relief with respect to the earlier case.

This case commenced with information filed March 20, 2001 and by which Defendant was charged for offenses committed on January 21, 2001 as follows:

Count I - Carjacking with a firearm in violation of Fla.Stats.812.133(1) and (2)(a);

Counts II

& III - Robbery with a firearm in violation of

Fla.Stats.812.13(2)(a) and 775.087(2);

Count IV - Aggravated fleeing and eluding in violation of Fla.Stats.316.1935(3); and

Count V - Grand Theft (Motor Vehicle) in violation of Fla.Stats.812.014(1)(a) & (b) and 812.014(2)(c)6.

R. 5-7.

The Defendant pleaded not guilty and after a jury trial was found guilty as charged. On appeal the district court affirmed.

By motion to vacate, set aside or correct sentence pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.800 the Defendant attacked his sentence and the circuit court denied the motion. The Fourth DCA affirmed and certified conflict with the Second DCA as that court ruled in Hall v. State, 837 So.2d 1179 (Fla. 2nd DCA 2003) and with the 3rd DCA in Frazier v. State, 877 So.2d 838 (Fla. 3rd DCA 2004). The Fourth DCA also receded from its prior decisions in several of its decisions beginning with Smith v. State, 813 So.2d 1002 (Fla. 4th DCA 2002) and ending with Malcolm v. State, 873 so.2d 378 (Fla. 4th DCA 2004).

This Court recognized jurisdiction.

(ii) Statement of the Facts:

At the trial the State filed a notice of its intention to seek imposition of the mandatory sentence under Fla.Stats. 775.082(9)(A)3 because it determined that the Defendant qualified as a "Prison Release Re-offender" ("PRR") under Fla.Stats. 775.082(9)(a)1; and by the same notice the State also sought the imposition of a mandatory sentence under Fla. Stats. 775.082(9)(A)3. R. 10. The State also filed a notice of its intention to seek that the court's declare the Defendant an habitual felony offender, an habitual violent felony offender, a three-time violent felony offender and/or a violent career criminal because the State determined that the Defendant had two or more qualifying convictions. R. 11-12.

After a jury trial the Defendant was found guilty on all counts (R. 29-33; Tr. 458-61) and on October 19, 2001 he was sentenced to concurrent life sentences on each of counts I, II and III because the court determined that he was a "prison release re-offender." R. 45-53; Tr. 479-481. He was also sentenced to 15 years concurrent on count IV (R. 54-56; Tr. 481) and 5 years concurrent on count V. R. 57-59; Tr. 481. That sentence was subsequently corrected to include a sentence of 10 years mandatory minimum. R. 67-69; Tr. 482-483. The court also made a finding that that the 10-20-Life statute applied and that it had complied with Fla. Stats. 775.087 in that the sentence

imposed as to Counts I, II and III exceeded the ten-year minimum term which that statute requires. Tr. 483. Further, the court ordered that the sentences under the subsequent case are to run consecutively to the probation violation case. Tr. 484. The sentence in that case has been since vacated.

(iii) Statement of the Standard of Review:

A circuit court's summary denial of a motion to correct sentence under Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.800 is reviewed *de novo*.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Fourth DCA impermissibly receded from its prior decisions in violation of the due process provision of the Fourteenth Amendment and should be brought back in line. Rogers v. Tennessee, ___ U.S. ___, 14 Fla. L. Weekly Fed S229, S230 (U.S. May 14, 2001); Bouie v. City of Columbia, 378 U.S. 347 (1964). Even if the change is appropriate there is no constitutional way for it to be applied against this Defendant.

By applying the new interpretation against this Defendant while applying the prior interpretation adopted by other district courts even years after the Defendant's offense, the Fourth DCA violates the equal protection provision of the Fourteenth Amendment by treating defendants similarly situated in a different manner.

If the Fourth DCA's recession from its prior decisions is to stand it would severely damage the hierarchical judicial system created by the constitution since it would give the intermediate appellate court the authority to change the interpretation of a law passed upon by this Court and embraced by other district court relying upon such endorsement. The Fourth DCA therefore acted without authority and its decision must be reversed.

Because the Third DCA in <u>Frazier v. State</u>, ____ So.2d ____, 29 Fla. L. Weekly D1587 (Fla. 3rd DCA July 7, 2004) applied the proper reasoning of this court that decision is the proper one to adhere to and apply against this Defendant even if this Court is minded to change its opinion for the future. In no event should any change be applied adversely against this Defendant.

The Fourth DCA overlooked the significance of a sentence that has been modified by the substitution of a new and different sentence. The former sentence no longer exists and it is the new sentence that must be applied. Accordingly, where Defendant's sentence of incarceration was modified by a replacement sentence of probation the prior sentence of incarceration is of no moment and cannot be used as a predicate for PRR classification because Defendant was never released from incarceration since there was no sentence of incarceration.

Although defendant in a proper and timely manner identified numerous errors on the scoresheet the Fourth DCA improperly ignored those errors resulting in an inaccurate scoresheet being used to sentence the Defendant. The decision should be reversed for an accurate scoresheet.

ARGUMENT

I. THE FOURTH DCA MAY NOT RECEDE FROM

ITS PRIOR DECISIONS IN A MANNER

PREJUDICIAL TO DEFENDANT WITHOUT

VIOLATING THE DUE PROCESS PROVISION OF

THE FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT

Inherent in the notion of due process under the Fourteenth Amendment is the prohibition of *ex post factor* judicial decisionmaking.

Rogers v. Tennessee, ____ U.S. ____, 14 Fla. L. Weekly Fed S229, S230 (U.S. May 14, 2001). In Bouie v. City of Columbia, 378 U.S. 347 (1964) the Supreme Court addressed the question of the extent to which a state court might change the interpretation of its own laws without violating the due process provision of the Fourteenth Amendment and concluded that it might not do so beyond what a fair reading permits. Similarly, in NAACP v. Alabama, 357 U.S. 449 (1958), reaffirmed in Bouie, where the state court

had a consistent line of cases interpreting its own laws in a particular way but on the occasion of the case in issue the state court suddenly departed from that consistent line of interpretation and adopted a new and different interpretation, the Supreme Court observed that such conduct violated the due process provision of the Fourteenth Amendment because justifiable reliance on prior decisions of the state court cannot be defeated by novelty in procedural requirements. At 457. The Court there observed that reliance was justified because the state court itself had set out the "established rule" of the court and that was consistent with the prior decisions. At 458. Relying on these principles the Bouie Court concluded that,

If a judicial construction of a criminal statute is 'unexpected and indefensible by reference to the law which had been expressed prior to the conduct in issue,' [the construction] must not be given retroactive effect.

At 354 quoting Hall, General Principles of Criminal Law (2d ed. 1960) at 61.

In <u>Rogers</u> the Court observed that the <u>Bouie</u> decision "rested on core due process concepts of notice, foreseeability, and, in particular, the right to fair warning . . . " At S231. *See, also*, <u>United States v. Lanier</u>, 520 U.S. 259, 266 (1997) ("[D]ue process bars courts from applying a novel construction of a criminal statute to conduct that neither the statute nor any prior judicial decision has fairly disclosed to be within its scope"); <u>Marks v.</u>

<u>United States</u>, 430 U.S. 188, 191-192 (1997) (Due process protects against judicial infringement of the "right to fair warning" that certain conduct will give rise to criminal penalties), cited in <u>Rogers</u> at S231.

Applying the foregoing principles to the instant case it is clear that the Fourth DCA violated the due process provision of the Fourteenth Amendment when it suddenly departed from the long established interpretation of the statute. That court candidly admitted that its prior decisions had consistently interpreted the law to preclude the imposition of mandatory minimum sentences under the 10-20-LIFE statute concurrently with the mandatory minimum sentences under the PRR statute. McDonald v. State, So.2d , 30 Fla. L. Weekly D2310, D2311 (Fla. 4th DCA September 28, 2005). Indeed the court cited some of those cases that were reported without saying whether there were others, and if so how many, were unreported. Additionally, at least one of the reported cases was taken to this Court and review was denied. Id. citing Hill v. State, 869 So.2d 10, 11 (Fla. 4th DCA), rev. denied, 871 So.2d 874 (Fla. 2004). Alarmingly, even years after the date of the commission of the offense (January 21, 2001) the law applied by the 4th DCA excluded the concurrent imposition of sentences under both the 10-20-LIFE statute and the PRR statute. Not only has this Court denied review of the state court's decisions but other circuits

have also adopted the ruling as recently as the year 2005. *See, e.g.,* Helms v. State, 890 So.2d 1256 (Fla. 2nd DCA 2005) cited in McDonald at D2311. With such a clear and unambiguous line of cases the Fourth DCA cannot deny Defendant the benefit of the law as interpreted at the time the offense was committed without violating the due process under the Fourteenth Amendment.

The 4th DCA therefor erred when it receded from its prior decisions and applied the new rule to increase the Defendant's sentence.

II. THE FOURTH DCA VIOLATED THE EQUAL
PROTECTION PROVISION OF THE
FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT BY TREATING
DEFENDANT DIFFERENTLY FROM OTHERS
SIMILARLY SITUATED

The Fourth DCA by its own candid admission disclosed that between the years 2002 and 2004 persons similarly situated as Defendant were treated differently by not being sentenced under the PRR and also the 10-20-LIFE statute concurrently. *See*, cases cited in McDonald at D2311. The differential treatment is constitutionally impermissible because the court has singled out Defendant for a much more onerous treatment than others.

III. THE FOURTH DCA LACKS JURISDICITON TO MODIFY THE LAW AFTER THE ISSUE HAS BEEN PRESENTED TO AND PASSED UPON BY THIS COURT

In a hierarchical judicial system as obtains in Florida, the intermediate appellate court may not recede from its own prior decisions without concern for whether or not those decisions have been embraced by the highest court in the state. It is respectfully submitted that once the highest court in the state has passed upon the decisions of the intermediate court those decisions become the law of the state and cannot be changed by the intermediate court but must await changes either from a higher court or from the legislature.

Any other rule would create a judicial anomaly whereby the intermediate appellate court could override the highest court in the state system contrary to the very purpose of the judicial hierarchical system authorized by the constitution.

Accordingly the Fourth DCA has no jurisdiction to modify an interpretation of the state's laws once the Florida Supreme Court has passed on it.

IV. THE FOURTH DCA ERRED IN CONSTRUING THIS COURT'S DECISIONS AFFECTING THE PRISON RELEASE REOFFENDER ACT

The Fourth DCA misconstrued the prior decisions of this court and so created a conflict with the Third DCA in <u>Frazier v. State</u>, ____ So.2d ____, 29 Fla. L. Weekly D1587 (Fla. 3rd DCA July 7, 2004). It is respectfully submitted that the decision in <u>Frazier</u> is the better decision and failure t abide by it would result in serious constitutional violations as pointed out above.

The sentences imposed under counts I, II and III violate the PRR statute itself because the trial court sentenced the Defendant as a PRR to concurrent life sentences under each count (Tr. 480-481) and also under the 10-20-Life statute. Tr. 483. This is in violation of applicable law because it is now well settled that the PRR may not be applied to sentence a defendant in conjunction with other statutes unless the other statute imposes a sentence greater than that imposed under the PRR. Bromell v. State, 777 So.2d 438 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001) cited with approval in Frazier v. State, ____ So.2d ____, 29 Fla. L. Weekly D1587 (Fla. 3rd DCA July 7, 2004) relying on Grant v. State, 770 So.2d 655, 25 Fla. L. Weekly S990 (Fla. November 2, 2000). The Frazier court stated,

The trial court's imposition of concurrent life sentences for the two counts of carjacking was error because the sentence for each carjacking conviction under the PRR Act and the Violent Career Criminal Act is life. As the State properly concedes, pursuant to section 775.082, a court may impose a concurrent sentence under section 775.084 *only* if it is a greater sentence. Since these sentences are equal, the appellant must be resentenced on these counts. (Citations omitted) (emphasis in original).

At D1587. *See also*, <u>Smith v. State</u>, 813 So.2d 1002, 1003, 27 Fla. L. Weekly D656 (Fla. 4th DCA March 20, 2002) (same), <u>Hill v. State</u>, ____ So.2d ____, 29 Fla. L. Weekly D255 (Fla. 4th DCA January21, 2004) (same).

In the instant case the trial court made the same error as did the sentencing court in Frazier and so the Defendant was erroneously sentenced to concurrent life sentences and a 10-year mandatory under the 10-20-Life statute. The Fourth DCA now embraces that error and should be brought in line with the other district courts which have complied with the Frazier rationale. Additionally, the concurrent life sentences for robbery with a firearm (counts II and III) are also erroneous because they violate the PRR since those offenses are first degree felonies the punishment for which under the PRR is 30 years and not life. Frazier v. State, So.2d, 29 Fla. L.. Weekly D1587 (Fla. 3rd DCA July 7, 2004) relying on Grant v. State, 770 So.2d 655, 25 Fla. L. Weekly S990 (Fla. November 2, 2000) citing with approval in Smith v. State, 754 So.2d 100 (Fla. 1st DCA 2000). The Frazier

court noted that pursuant to the PRR provision § 775.082(8)(a)2.b Fla.Stats. (1997) [now § 775.082(9)(a)3.b Fla.Stats. (2004)] the appropriate punishment for a first degree felony is 30 years and not life. That court therefore reversed a similar life sentence under the PRR.

It is respectfully submitted a similar treatment is warrant in the instant case.

V. THE FOURTH DCA ERRED IN CLASSIFYING DEFENDANT AS A PRISON RELEASE REOFFENDER

The district court erroneously determined that the Defendant was a prison release re-offender (PRR) when there was no proper predicate for such a qualification and where in doing so the court erroneously relied upon the Defendant's prior sentence as a youthful offender which was modified from one of incarceration to one of probation. In sentencing the Defendant the court reasoned that because the Defendant was released from a state correctional facility on November 15, 2000 and committed the qualifying offenses on January 21, 2001 then the 3-year predicate was satisfied. Tr. 480. The Defendant was never "released from a state correctional facility following incarceration" within the meaning of the act because his sentence of

incarceration was modified to one of probation so there was in fact no incarceration in a correctional facility. *See*, *e.g.*, <u>Garner v. State</u>, ___ So.2d ___, 28 Fla. L. Weekly D757 (Fla. 4DCA March 19, 2003) (Jimmy Ryce facility was not a correctional facility).

Pursuant to the Prison Release Reoffender Act, Fla.Stats.

775.082(9)(A)3, (PRR) a defendant is subject to an enhanced sentence under the Act *only* if he is a person who has been convicted of a nominate offense "within 3 years after being released from a State Correctional Facility operated by the Department of Corrections . . . *following incarceration for an offense for which the sentence is punishable* [sic.] *by more than 1 year* . . ." (Emphasis added).

In order for the Defendant to be sentenced under the PRR the State had to show that he committed the instant offenses within three years of being "released from a state correctional facility operated by the Department of Corrections or a private vendor following incarceration. § 775.082(9)(a)1."

Id. Accordingly in Garner, supra, the 4th DCA reversed a PRR sentence because there the defendant was sentenced to a Jimmy Ryce facility operated by the Department of Children and Families and since such a facility was not a qualifying facility PRR status was inappropriately applied. The 4th DCA further noted that by the Florida Correctional Code a "State correctional

institution" is defined as "any prison, road camp, prison industry, prison forestry camp, or any prison camp or prison farm or other correctional facility, temporary or permanent, in which *prisoners* are housed, worked, or maintained, under the custody and jurisdiction of the department." *Id.* at D758 quoting § 944.02(6), Fla. Stat. (1999). (Emphasis in original). It is obvious from the foregoing that the Legislature intended to differentiate between release from "probation" as provided in 958.045(5)(c) and "release following incarceration." As the defendant in *Garner*, the Defendant in the case at bar was not a "prisoner" housed in any of the nominate facilities and therefore does not qualify for PRR status.

The indisputable facts are that on October 29, 1999 under Case No. 99-3968CF10A the Defendant in the instant case was convicted and sentenced as a youthful offender under a judgment of conviction entered in the Circuit Court for the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit in and for Broward County. RR. 10-19. On November 14, 2000 the same court modified the sentence to four years probation pursuant to Fla. Stat.958.045. RR. 24-25, 27-28. The order of modification under Case No. 99-3968CF10A read in pertinent part as follows:

ORDER OF MODIFICATION OF SENTENCE PLACING THE DEFENDANT ON PROBATION

... it is hereby ORDERED AND ADJUDGED:

The previous order of commitment of 4 yr f/b 2 yr prob. for the offenses of ...[IS MODIFIED] as follows:

Defendant's sentence is hereby modified pursuant to Section 958.045(5)(C) Florida Statutes and the defendant is hereby released from the custody of the Department of Corrections and is placed on probation for a period of four (4) years . . .

Order of Modification at p.1. This modification clearly operated to revoke the sentence of incarceration and substitute in its place a sentence of probation. It was not an order which added onto the time served a sentence of probation but instead it operated with retroactive effect to make the sentence a sentence of probation and not a sentence of incarceration. Such an interpretation is consistent with the scheme of the youthful offender statute which *inter alia* is to provide the court with sentencing alternatives to incarceration and which the sentencing court duly applied.

The State's response to the Defendant's motion to correct sentence upon which the court relied in its denial overlooks the cited case as well as the obvious principle. On the facts of the instant case the Defendant was never "released following incarceration" because his sentence was one of probation only and not one of incarceration or any type of placement.

It is respectfully submitted that this is a different situation from one in which a defendant is incarcerated and then released on probation after serving his term of incarceration. In those circumstances the statute applies

for offenders who committed the relevant offense within the 3-year limit but where, as in the instant case, the original judgment of sentence itself was modified to make it a sentence of probation and not one of incarceration there is no "prison release re-offender" predicate to warrant a sentence under the recidivist statute. Accordingly the circuit court erred in sentencing the Defendant as a prison release re-offender.

VI. THE FOURTH DCA ERRONEOUSLY DISREGARDED THE SCORESHEET ERRORS IDENTIFIED BY DEFEDANT

The Defendant was sentenced for armed robbery with a firearm without a special verdict form to determine whether the firearm used in the offenses was possessed by this Defendant or whether the possession was only constructive because it was possessed by another assailant in violation of Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. ____, 147 L.Ed.2d 435, 120 S.Ct. 2348 (2000) and Blakely v. Washington, ____ U.S. ____, 17 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. S430 (S.C. June 24, 2004).

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