IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

ROY McDONALD,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

Case No. SC05-2141

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

CELIA A. TERENZIO Florida Bar No. 0656879 Bureau Chief

JOSEPH A. TRINGALI Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0134924 1515 North Flagler Drive West Palm Beach, FL 33401 Telephone (561) 837-5000

Counsel for Respondent

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

VI

Petitioner's argument that his scoresheet included numerous errors was not addressed by the Fourth District Court of Appeal and is not properly before this Court.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL MAY RECEDE FROM ITS PRIOR DECISIONS WITHOUT VIOLATING THE DUE PROCESS PROVISION OF THE FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT.

Petitioner argues that the Fourth District Court of Appeal violated the Due Process provision of the Fourteenth Amendment when, in the instant case, it receded from a series of prior decisions which were clearly contrary to the plain meaning and legislative intent of the 10-20-LIFE statute, section 775.087 Fla. Stat. (2000).

Briefly, in McDonald v. State, 912 So.2d 74 (Fla. 4th DCA 2005), the Fourth District held that Petitioner was subject to mandatory minimum life sentences under the Prison Releasee Reoffender (PRR) statute for his convictions for carjacking with a firearm and robbery with a firearm, concurrently with ten-year mandatory minimum sentences under 10-20-LIFE statute, for his possession of a firearm during those offenses. The Fourth District further held that to the extent that provisions of PRR statute and 10-20-LIFE law could be seen as conflicting, the specific provisions of the 10-20-LIFE law control over the more general provisions of the PRR statute, and the 10-20-LIFE statute mandated such

sentencing in conjunction with, rather than instead of, sentencing under the PRR statute.

Petitioner contends these holdings of the Fourth District constitute a sudden departure from its previous holdings, and violate the *ex post facto* and due process provisions of the United States Constitution. Respondent strongly disagrees, and submits that Petitioner's reliance on the holdings of the United States Supreme Court in Rogers v. Tennessee, 532 U.S. 451 (2001), and Bouie v. City of Columbia, 378 U.S. 347 (1964) is completely misplaced.

In Rogers, a defendant was convicted of the murder of a victim who died more than one year and one day after the incident in which he was stabbed. On appeal, the defendant raised the common-law "year and a day rule," arguing that under Tennessee common law, no defendant could be convicted of murder unless his victim had died by the defendant's act within a year and a day of the act. The Supreme Court of Tennessee abolished the rule as it had existed at common law in Tennessee and applied its decision to petitioner to uphold his conviction. In upholding the conviction, the United States Supreme Court rejected the argument that the Supreme Court of Tennessee denied Rogers due process of law in violation of the Fourteenth Amendment. While admitting that its opinion in Bouie v. City of Columbia "does contain some expansive language that is suggestive of the broad

interpretation for which petitioner argues," the Court pointed out that its <u>Bouie</u> decision was not based on *ex post facto* considerations but "was rooted firmly in well established notions of due process." <u>Rogers, supra.</u> "Its rationale," said the Court, "rested on core due process concepts of notice, foreseeability, and, in particular, the right to fair warning as those concepts bear on the constitutionality of attaching criminal penalties to what previously had been innocent conduct. (citation omitted). And we couched its holding squarely in terms of that established due process right, and not in terms of the ex post facto-related dicta to which petitioner points."

Recently, in <u>United States v. Thomas</u>, 19 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C500 (April 26, 2006), the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals rejected a similar "fair warning" challenge to the federal sentencing guidelines, saying that while the defendant made a "novel argument," the sentence imposed was foreseeable.

Clearly, due process considerations bar courts from applying a novel construction of a criminal statute to conduct that neither the statute nor any prior judicial decision has fairly disclosed to be within its scope. <u>United States v. Lanier</u>, 520 U.S. 259, 266 (1997). It protects against judicial infringement of the "right to fair warning" that certain conduct will give rise to criminal penalties. <u>Marks v. United States</u>, 430 U.S. 188 (1977). Thus, in <u>Rose v. Locke</u>, 423 U.S. 48, w: Web Briefs(05-2141_ans.doc

8

53, (1975) (per curiam) the Court upheld a defendant's conviction under a statute prohibiting "crimes against nature" because, unlike in <u>Bouie</u>, the defendant could not claim "that [the statute] afforded no notice that his conduct might be within its scope,", but in <u>Douglas v. Buder</u>, 412 U.S. 430, 432 (1973) (per curiam) the Court found that a trial court's novel construction of the term "arrest" as including a traffic citation, and application of that construction to defendant to revoke his probation, was unforeseeable and thus violated due process.

In conclusion, the United States Supreme Court has uniformly held that a law must not be given retroactive effect only where it is "unexpected and indefensible by reference to the law which had been expressed prior to the conduct in issue." The Court pointed out that ever since the founding of the Republic, courts have been "deciding cases, and in doing so were fashioning and refining the law as it then existed in light of reason and experience. Due process clearly did not prohibit this process of judicial evolution at the time of the framing, and it does not do so today."

In the case at bar, the Fourth District Court of Appeal relied on the clear legislative intent of the statute when it held "that all criminals who possess or use firearms during the commission of the enumerated felonies *must* suffer the mandatory minimum penalties of the 10-20-LIFE law." Its interpretation gives the

statute its plain and ordinary meaning. Accordingly, the decision is not unexpected and indefensible by reference to the law which had been expressed prior to the conduct in issue, and, therefore, does not violate due process.

POINT II

THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL DID NOT VIOLATE THE EQUAL PROTECTION PROVISION OF THE FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT BY TREATING PETITIONER DIFFERENTLY FROM OTHERS SIMILARLY SITUATED.

In his second point on appeal, Petitioner claims the decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal violates his right to equal protection of the laws because "between the years 2002 and 2004 persons similarly situated as Defendant were treated differently by not being sentenced under the PRR and also the 10-20-LIFE statute concurrently."

In <u>Grant v. State</u>, 770 So.2d 655, 658 (Fla. 2000), this Court held that a trial court erred when it imposed equal or concurrent sentences of imprisonment under both the Habitual Felony Offender Statute and the Prison Releasee Reoffender Act because Florida Statute 775.082(8)(c) prevents such a dual sentencing scheme. The Fourth District Court of Appeal said this Court's interpretation that the PRR act prohibited *lesser or equal* sentences under another provision of law . . . resulted from the absence of any other statutory provision showing the legislative intent regarding the interaction between the PRR and HFO statutes.

Although the Fourth District said it had previously applied the holding of Grant to cases such as the one at bar where a defendant was charged under the 10-

 20-LIFE statute and the Prison Releasee Act, the legislative intent in this case is "crystal clear."

In <u>Mitchell v. Moore</u>, 786 So.2d 521, 529 (Fla. 2001), this Court explained why the law sometimes accepts results that appear to be facially inconsistent:

Normally, a new rule which is not a fundamental change in the law, but merely an evolutionary refinement is applied prospectively generally to most retrospectively to certain nonfinal cases ("pipeline" cases), but never to final cases. In order for an advantageous decisional change to be fully retroactive to final cases on collateral review, it must be of constitutional nature, a "sweeping change of law" of "fundamental significance" constituting a "jurisprudential upheaval[]." Witt v. State, 387 So.2d 922, 925, 929, 931 (Fla.1980); see State v. Callaway, 658 So.2d 983 (Fla.1995). A mere "evolutionary refinement" will not abridge the finality of judgments because to do so would "destroy the stability of the law, render punishments uncertain and therefore ineffectual, and

burden the judicial machinery of our state, fiscally and intellectually, beyond any tolerable limit." Witt, 387 So.2d at 929-30.

In the case at bar, the Fourth District Court of Appeal did not make the kind of sweeping change in the law that would require its application to every other prisoner. It merely interpreted the 10-20-LIFE statute in light of the statute's clear language and the available opinions of this Court and the other district courts of appeal. This evolutionary change did not require a reconsideration of every other case that had become final.

POINT III

THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL HAS JURISDCITION TO MODIFY THE LAW AFTER THE ISSUE HAS BEEN PRESENTED TO AND PASSED UPON BY THIS COURT.

In his third point on appeal, Petitioner argues that the Fourth District Court of Appeal does not have "jurisdiction to modify an interpretation of the state's laws once the Florida Supreme Court has passed on it."

Respondent respectfully submits the decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal in the case at bar does not conflict with any decision of this Court. The factual difference between the case at bar and the holding of this Court in <u>Grant</u> is obvious: here, the Court dealt with the interplay between the PRR statute and the 10-20-LIFE statute; in <u>Grant</u> this Court considered the interplay between the PRR statute and the Habitual Felony Offender (HFO) statute. The language of the 10-20-LIFE statute expressly authorizes imposition of a mandatory minimum sentence even when that mandatory minimum is less that the sentence that could be imposed under the Criminal Punishment Code. This Court has not spoken to this issue, and, therefore, the Fourth District Court of Appeal has the authority to recede from its prior decisions based on the language of a statute.

POINT IV

THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL DID NOT ERR IN CONSTRUING THIS COURT'S DECISIONS AFFECTING THE PRISON RELEASEE REOFFENDER ACT.

In his fourth point on appeal, Petitioner contends the Fourth District Court of Appeal misconstrued the prior decisions of this Court and created conflict with the Third District in <u>Frazier v. State</u>, 877 So.2d 838 (Fla. 3rd DCA 2004). Respondent strongly disagrees.

It is of course well settled that a defendant may be sentenced concurrently under the Prison Releasee Reoffender Act only where the PRR sentence was greater than the sentence he would receive under the other statute. Because the statute did not speak to the possibility of the PRR sentence was equal to or lesser than the alternative sentence, this Court held that the PRR could not be imposed in those circumstances.

The case at bar is completely different: here, the Court is dealing with a statute that covers the alternative. The 10-20-LIFE statute expressly states the intent of the legislature by authorizing an alternative. Section 775.087(2)(a)3(c) states:

If the minimum mandatory terms of imprisonment imposed pursuant to this section exceed the maximum

sentences authorized by s. 775.082, s. 775.084, or the Criminal Punishment Code under chapter 921, then the mandatory minimum sentence must be imposed.

If the mandatory minimum terms of imprisonment pursuant to this section are less than the sentences that could be imposed as authorized by s. 775.082, s. 775.084, or the Criminal Punishment Code under chapter 921, then the sentence imposed by the court must include the mandatory minimum term of imprisonment as required in this section.

(Emphasis added).

The legislative intent is clearly expressed in 775.087(2)(a)3(d) which provides:

It is the intent of the Legislature that offenders who actually possess, carry, display, use, threaten to use, or attempt to use firearms or destructive devices be punished to the fullest extent of the law, and the minimum terms of imprisonment imposed pursuant to this subsection shall be imposed for each qualifying felony count for which the person is convicted. The Court shall impose any term of imprisonment provided for in this subsection consecutively to any other term of imprisonment imposed for any other felony offense.

(Emphasis added).

In <u>Grant v.</u> State, 770 So.2d 655 (Fla. 2000), this Court held that although concurrent sentences as a PRR and a habitual felony offender did not violate double jeopardy, the imposition of such sentences did violate the PRR act itself. Citing to Walls v. State, 765 So.2d 733, 734 (Fla. 1st DCA 2000), the Court stated:

[B]ecause "section 775.082(8)(c) only authorizes the court to deviate from the [Act's] sentencing scheme to impose a greater sentence of incarceration," a trial court is "without authority to sentence [a defendant to an equal sentence] under the habitual felony offender statute," even where such sentence is imposed concurrently with the PRR sentence. Thus, the trial court erred in imposing two concurrent, equal sentences in this case, not because such sentencing violated double jeopardy, but because it is not authorized by the Act.

(Grant, as quoted in Frazier v. State, 877 So.2d 838, 839-840 (Fla. 3rd DCA 2004).

It bears repeating that in the case at bar, the Fourth District Court of Appeal based its decision on the clear and indisputable language of the 10-20-LIFE statute, not the PRR. Accordingly, it did not construe any prior decision of this Court. There was no error, and it should be affirmed.

POINT V

THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL DID NOT ERR IN CLASSIFYING PETITIONER AS A PRISON RELEASEE REOFFENDER.

In his fifth point on appeal, Petitioner contends he does not qualify as a Prison Releasee Reoffender because he was not "released" from a State correctional facility within three (3) years of the commission of the instant offense. He argues that because the trial court modified his sentence from one of incarceration to one of probation, he was never a "prisoner" within the meaning of that term. Respondent disagrees.

In the first place, the record does not support his argument: Petitioner was clearly sentenced to four years in prison followed by two years probation; he was specifically released from the Department of Corrections after his sentence was modified.

A trial court may revoke or a sentence within sixty (60) days of the imposition of sentence. Wilson v. State, 487 So.2d 1130 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986). There is a difference between revoking a sentence and modifying one. Upon a violation of community control, for example, the court has authority to "revoke, modify or continue" the probation or community control. If it chooses to revoke probation or community control, it must then impose a new sentence, which the

state can appeal if it falls below the sentencing guidelines. <u>State v. Bell</u>, 854 So.2d 686, 690 (Fla. 5th DCA 2003). If, on the other hand, the trial court modifies the community control, the State cannot appeal because an existing sentence remains in effect. <u>Id.</u>

In the case at bar, the trial judge clearly "modified" Petitioner's sentence and allowed him to be released from the Department of Corrections. However that modification did not void the original sentence. Accordingly, the Fourth District Court of Appeal did not err in finding that Petitioner had been released from prison within three years of the date of the instant crime.

POINT VI

THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL DID NOT ERRONEOUSLY DISREGARD THE SCORESHEET ERRORS IDENTIFIED BY PETITIONER.

In his final point on appeal, Petitioner contends the Fourth District Court of Appeal erroneously disregarded the scoresheet errors identified by him, and then addresses factual issues which were not before the Court and not addressed by it. Accordingly, Respondent respectfully submits this issue of whether scoresheet errors did not did not exist is not properly before this Court and should not be a part of its decision.

CONCLUSION

WHEREFORE based on the foregoing arguments and the authorities cited herein, Respondent respectfully contends the decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal is not in conflict with any decision of this Court or any of the district courts, and, therefore, this Court should decline jurisdiction in the premises.